Case No. S275746

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,	)	Case No. S275746
Plaintiff and Respondent,	)	
	)	Court of Appeal
v.	)	Case No. E075532
KEJUAN DARCELL CLARK,	)	
Defendant and Appellant	)	Riverside County
	)	Superior Court
	)	Case No. RIF1503800
	)	

---

APPEAL FROM THE RIVERSIDE COUNTY  
SUPERIOR COURT

Honorable Bambi J. Moyer, Judge

---

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

---

PATRICK MORGAN FORD (SBN 114398)  
Attorney at Law  
1901 First Avenue, Suite 400  
San Diego, CA 92101  
(619) 236-0679  
ljlegal@sbcglobal.net

Attorney for Appellant  
KEJUAN DARCELL CLARK

Under Appointment of the  
California Supreme Court

**Introduction**

This case addresses the issue of whether the prosecution can meet its burden of establishing a “pattern of criminal gang activity” under Penal Code section 186.22 as amended by Assembly Bill No. 333 (Stats. 2021, ch 699) by presenting evidence of individual gang members committing separate predicate offenses, or whether it must provide evidence of two or more gang members

working together during each predicate offense. Appellant argues the latter is required — that is, because the provision requires the gang members “collectively engage in” a pattern of gang activity, the prosecution must prove that two or more members committed each predicate offense.

### **Statement of Appealability**

This is an appeal from a felony conviction following a jury trial and an affirmance on appeal. It is authorized by Penal Code section 1237.<sup>1</sup>

### **Relevant procedural and factual background<sup>2</sup>**

Appellant was convicted of a burglary, a robbery and a rape committed in 2015. The charges arose from an incident where he had sex with the mother of a friend, who was burglarized at the same time by appellant’s confederates. The accuser thereafter denied knowing appellant, and denied the sex was consensual. (*See People v. Clark* (2022) 81 Cal.App.5th 133, 138-142 for additional facts.)

The jury found the burglary and robbery charges were gang-related within the meaning of Penal Code section 186.22(b)(1)(c) (2 CT 359-363; 3 CT 584-585, 588-579.)

---

<sup>1</sup> All further references will be to the California Penal Code unless otherwise specified.

<sup>2</sup> Inasmuch as the facts of the charged incident are not relevant to the present issue (the proper interpretation of AB 333), the facts presented here will be limited to that issue.

The trial court imposed a sentence of 20 years plus 90 years-to-life in prison, which included a 10 year term for the gang enhancement. (4 CT 919-920.)

The prosecution called a “gang expert,” Riverside County deputy sheriff Richard Reyes to provide facts in support of the gang allegation. (5 RT 950.) He testified that appellant was a member of the Sex Cash Money (SCM) gang, and that the gang’s primary activities included burglaries, robberies, weapon possession, drug sales, auto theft and assaults. (5 RT 1009.) Deputy Reyes knew of robberies and burglaries committed by the gang. (5 RT 1009.)

The prosecution asked Deputy Reyes about several crimes committed by SCM, and presented certified copies of six convictions in order to prove a pattern of criminal activity for purposes of the section 186.22, subd.(b) enhancement.

The convictions included a certified conviction for a 2014 robbery committed by CSM member Damon Ridgeway (5 RT 994, 1013, 1015-1016); a residential burglary committed by Ridgeway in 2009 (5 RT 994, 1013-1016); certified burglary convictions for the three co-perpetrators in the present case (5 RT 1017-1021); and a certified attempted burglary conviction involving the appellant in 2014. (5 RT 1023.)

The trial court instructed the jury with CALCRIM No. 1401, which described the elements of the section 186.22, subd.(b) gang enhancement at the time of the crime. (8 RT 1544.)

## **Overview of the section 186.22, subd.(b) gang enhancement and Assembly Bill 333**

In 1988, the Legislature enacted the California Street Terrorism Enforcement and Prevention Act (the STEP Act). (See Penal Code section 186.20 et seq.) Among other things, the Act created a sentence enhancement for felony crimes committed “for the benefit of, at the direction of, or in association with any criminal street gang.” (Section 186.22, subd. (b)(1); *People v. Valencia* (2021) 11 Cal.5th 818, 829.)

In 2021, the Legislature passed Assembly Bill 333 (2021-2022 Reg. Sess.), which became effective on January 1, 2022. The bill made various changes to the gang enhancement provision. First, it narrowed the definition of “criminal street gang” to require that any gang be an “ongoing, organized association or group of three or more members.” (Section 186.22, subd. (f).)

Next, and as relevant here, whereas section 186.22, former subdivision (f) required only that a gang’s members “individually or collectively engage in a pattern of criminal activity” in order to constitute “a criminal street gang,” Assembly Bill 333 requires that any such pattern have been “collectively engage[d] in” by members of the gang. (Section 186.22, subd. (f).) Assembly Bill 333 also narrowed the definition of a “pattern of criminal activity” by requiring that the last offense used to show a pattern of criminal activity occurred within three years of



the date that the currently charged offense was alleged to have been committed, the offenses were committed by two or more “gang members” (rather than just “persons”), the offenses commonly benefitted a criminal street gang, and the acts establishing a pattern of gang activity must be offenses other than the currently charged offense. (Section 186.22, subd.(e)(1),(2).) The bill also narrowed what it means for an offense to have commonly benefitted a street gang, requiring that any “common benefit” be more than “reputational.” (Section 186.22, subd.(g).) Finally, the bill added section 1109, which requires, if requested by the defendant, a gang enhancement charge be tried separately from all other counts that do not otherwise require gang evidence as an element of the crime.

### **Argument**

#### **The gang enhancement must be reversed because the prosecution failed to prove two predicate offenses committed “collectively” by SCM members.**

There is currently a split of authority among the courts of appeal interpreting the requirements for showing that gang “members collectively engage in, or have engaged in, a pattern of criminal gang activity.” (Section 186.22, subd. (f).)<sup>3</sup> In *People v. Delgado* (2022) 74 Cal.App.5th 1067, 1072, the court found the

---

<sup>3</sup> Respondent agrees in its supplemental brief filed in the Court of Appeal that the provisions of AB 333 apply retroactively to this case because it is not final on appeal. (Respondent’s supplemental brief, p. 1, citing *In re Estrada* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 70, and *People v. Sek* (2022) 74 Cal.App.5th 657, 667.)

requirement ... that gang members ‘collectively engage’ in a pattern of criminal gang activity, means the People were required to prove that two or more gang members committed each predicate offense ...” In contrast, the court in the present case, *People v. Clark, supra*, 81 Cal.App.5th at pp. 145-146 disagreed with *Delgado*’s interpretation of “collectively” in subdivision (f), finding instead that “a pattern of criminal gang activity may be established by (1) two gang members who separately committed crimes on different occasions, or (2) two gang members who committed a crime together on a single occasion.”

The decision in *Delgado* followed *People v. Lopez* (2021) 73 Cal.App.5th 327, 344-345, which compared the former section 186.22, subd. (f), to the current version.<sup>4</sup> Prior to AB 333, a criminal street gang was defined as “an[y] *ongoing organization, association, or group* of three or more persons, whether formal or informal, having as one of its primary activities the commission of one or more [enumerated criminal acts], having a common name or common identifying sign or symbol, and whose members *individually or collectively* engage in, or have engaged in, a pattern of criminal gang activity.” (Section 186.22, subd. (f), italics added.) (*People v. Lopez, supra*, 73 Cal.App.5th at p. 344.) The *Lopez* court found that, while the People had proven gang members had individually engaged in a

---

<sup>4</sup> *Lopez* was decided before AB 333 went into effect, so it refers to the current version and the version effective January 1, 2022. *Lopez*’s “current” version is now the former version of section 186.22.

pattern of criminal activity, “Assembly Bill 333 will require the prosecution to prove collective, not merely individual, engagement in a pattern of criminal gang activity.” (*Id.* at p. 345.) No evidence was introduced at trial to show that the predicate offenses “constitute collective criminal activity” by the gang. (*Ibid.*)

In *Delgado*, the court found that subdivision (f)’s term “collectively” required that the predicate offenses be committed by multiple gang members. The *Delgado* court noted that the changed definition of a “criminal street gang” in section 186.22, subdivision (f), now requires proof that members of a gang “collectively engage in, or have engaged in, a pattern of criminal gang activity.” That change meant the prosecution must prove that two or more gang members committed each predicate offense. (*Id.* at pp. 1072-1073.)

Noting that the previous version of section 186.22, subd. (f), stated that gang members must “individually or collectively” engage in a pattern of criminal gang activity while the current version only uses the term “collectively” to describe the pattern of gang activity, the *Delgado* court “read the term ‘collectively’ in a common sense manner to mean what it says—committed by more than one person, and not, as argued by the People, individually but on a different day.” (*Id.* at pp. 1088-1089.) The court rejected the prosecution’s interpretation that “removal of the word ‘individually’ simply means it is no longer sufficient for a single individual to commit both predicate offenses on different days, but rather, a

different individual must commit each offense. Such a minimal change to the statute is inconsistent with the Legislature's intent to significantly limit the scope of the gang enhancement.” (*Id.* at p. 1089.)

In line with principles of statutory construction, the *Delgado* court gave the statute’s words their plain and common sense meaning, at the same time looking to “the entire substance of the statute ... to determine the scope and purpose of the provision.” (*People v. Delgado, supra*, 74 Cal.App.5th at p. 1088.) Where the “statutory language permits more than one reasonable interpretation, courts may consider other aids, such as the statute’s purpose, legislative history, and public policy.” (*Ibid.*) *Delgado*’s understanding of the term “collectively” was consistent with the Senate Rules Committee’s analysis of AB 333, which described subdivision (f)’s amendment as requiring that “engagement of a pattern of criminal activity ... be done by members collectively, not individually.” (*Id.* at p. 1089.) *Delgado* concluded that “[i]f subdivision (f) were read to “limit application of the gang enhancement to situations where individual gang members committed two predicate offenses on separate occasions,” that interpretation “would do little to further [AB 333's] legislative purpose.” (*Ibid.*)

The court in the present case (*Clark*), looking at the same language as *Lopez* and *Delgado*, reached a different conclusion. (*People v. Clark, supra*, 81 Cal.App.5th at pp. 143-146.) It held that “a pattern of criminal gang activity may

be established by (1) two gang members who separately committed crimes on different occasions, or (2) two gang members who committed a crime together on a single occasion.” (*Id.* at pp. 145-146.) The *Clark* court relied on the plain language of subdivision (e)(1)’s alternative options: the prior “offenses were committed on separate occasions or by two or more members” and asserts that since the statute’s terms are clear and unambiguous, the reviewing court need go no further. (*People v. Clark, supra*, 81 Cal.App.5th at p. 144.) *Clark* opined that the statute would not be satisfied if “one gang member committed two crimes on two different occasions” because that would not show that “members” (plural) of “the gang are collectively involved in criminal activity.” (*Ibid.*)

*Clark* criticized *Delgado* for not recognizing the plain language of the statute and because its interpretation renders the alternative option that “the offenses were committed on separate occasions” as surplusage. (*People v. Clark, supra*, 81 Cal.App.5th at p. 145.) *Clark* was unpersuaded by *Lopez* because *Lopez* “did not provide a plain language analysis of the statute pertaining to the phrases (A) “members collectively” (§ 186.22, subd. (f)); and (B) “the offenses were committed on separate occasions or by two or more members (§ 186.22, subd. (e)(1)).” (*People v. Clark, supra*, at p. 145.)

*Delgado* and *Lopez* have the better argument. There is a dissonance between subdivision (e)(1), which, in order to establish a “pattern of criminal

activity,” states that predicate offenses “were committed on separate occasions or by two or more members” and subdivision (f) which requires that gang “members collectively engage in, or have engaged in, a pattern of criminal gang activity.” Both subdivisions appear to give meaning to the phrase “pattern of criminal activity.”

“Collectively” is defined as “as a whole group rather than as individual persons or things.” (< <https://www.dictionary.com/browse/collectively> >, accessed January 8th, 2023.) A common sense reading of “members collectively engage in, or have engaged in, a pattern of criminal activity” is that the members as a group engage in a pattern of criminal activity. That reading is at odds with *Clark’s* reading of subdivision (e)(1) which defines “pattern of gang activity” as “offenses ... committed on separate occasions or by two or more members.” *Clark’s* reading makes “collectively” surplusage and is inconsistent with the legislative intent of narrowing the reach of California’s gang laws.

Members cannot collectively commit a crime if only a single person is implicated in the crime. Both the plural “members” and the qualifying term “collectively” must be given meaning. (*Garcia v. McCutchen* (1997) 16 Cal.4th 469, 476 [Courts should “give effect and significance to every word and phrase of a statute.”].) The common sense reading is that members acting together must engage in a pattern of criminal activity.

The correctness of this reading is supported by the fact that the former (pre-AB 333) subdivision (f) required that “members *individually or collectively* engage in, or have engaged in, a pattern of criminal gang activity.” (Emphasis added.) The fact that the Legislature removed the term “individually” from the statute is significant. (*Times Mirror Co. v. Superior Court* (1991) 53 Cal.3d 1325, 1337 [“Where changes have been introduced to a statute by amendment it must be assumed the changes have a purpose ... .”]; *Williams v. Garcetti* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 561, 568 [“an intention to change the law is usually inferred from a material change in the language of the statute”]; *People v. Valentine* (1946) 28 Cal.2d 121, 142 [“It is ordinarily to be presumed that the Legislature by deleting an express provision of a statute intended a substantial change in the law”].) *Delgado’s* and *Lopez’s* reading of the statute give meaning to this change in a way that comports “with the Legislature's intent to significantly limit the scope of the gang enhancement.” (*People v. Delgado, supra*, 74 Cal.App.5th at p. 1089.)

*Delgado’s* reading of the statute is also consistent with this Court’s interpretation of the former section 186.22. In *People v. Gardeley* (1996) 14 Cal.4th 605, 623, this Court found that the statutory definition of “criminal street gang” required that it have “members who individually or collectively have actually engaged in “two or more” acts of specified criminal conduct committed either on separate occasions or by two or more persons.” *Gardeley* combines the

elements in subdivision (e) with those in subdivision (f) to reach an overall definition of “criminal street gang.” *Delgado* takes a similar approach with the new version of the statute.

Moreover, *Delgado*’s reading of this ambiguity is consistent with the principle that “[w]here the statute is susceptible of two reasonable constructions, a defendant is ordinarily entitled to that construction most favorable to him.” (*Bowland v. Municipal Court* (1976) 18 Cal.3d 479, 488.)

*Delgado*’s reading is consistent with that given the changes made by AB 333 described in this Court’s opinion in *People v. Tran* (2022) 13 Cal.5th 1169, 1207, finding “Assembly Bill 333 requires that any [pattern of criminal activity] have been ‘collectively engage[d] in’ by members of the gang” and “narrowed the definition of a ‘pattern of criminal activity’ by requiring that ... the offenses were committed by two or more gang ‘members,’ as opposed to just ‘persons.’” In *Tran*, this Court reversed the gang enhancement “because the jury was not presented with any discernible theory as to how [gang] members ‘collectively engage[d] in’ these predicate crimes ...” (*Id.* at p. 1208.) A similar result should occur here, and appellant’s gang enhancement should be reversed because there was no discernable theory as to how CSM members collectively engaged in the predicate crimes.

////



## Conclusion

Appellant respectfully requests that this Court find the prosecution failed to prove members of SCM collectively engaged in a pattern of gang activity for purposes of section 186.22, subd.(f), and reverse the decision of the Court of Appeal.