No. S275746

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, *Plaintiff and Respondent*,

v.

KEJUAN CLARK,

Defendant and Appellant.

Fourth Appellate District, Division Two, Case No. E075532 Riverside County Superior Court, Case No. RIF1503800 The Honorable Bambi J. Moyer, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

C. Other indicia of the Legislature's intent support the interpretation that a predicate offense need not be committed by two or more gang members acting together

Although the plain language and structure of section 186.22 adequately answer the interpretive question in this case, other indicia of the Legislature's intent further support the conclusion that before and after passage of AB 333, evidence of a predicate offense committed by an individual gang member for the common benefit of the gang may be used to establish a pattern of criminal gang activity. (See *Gutierrez, supra*, 58 Cal.4th at p. 1369 [a court should adopt "the construction that comports most closely with the apparent intent of the lawmakers, with a view to promoting rather than defeating the general purpose of the statute"].)

The gang statute represents the Legislature's effort "to seek the eradication of criminal activity by street gangs by focusing upon patterns of criminal gang activity and upon the organized nature of street gangs." (§ 186.21.) The focus on patterns and the organized nature of the group is intended to ensure that a defendant "does not risk conviction for mere nominal or passive involvement with a gang Rather, it applies when a defendant has personally committed a gang-related felony with the specific intent to aid members of that gang." (*Albillar*, *supra*, 51 Cal.4th at pp. 67-68; *People v. Castenada* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 743, 752 ["[b]y linking criminal liability to a defendant's criminal conduct in furtherance of a street gang, section 186.22(a) reaches only those street gang participants whose gang involvement is, by definition, 'more than nominal or passive"].)

The legislative history of AB 333 reveals an aim to strengthen the gang statute's focus on collective activity in order to avoid overbroad application of the statute based on individually motivated criminal behavior and mere association with gang members. Indeed, the first change to the gang statute listed in AB 333's uncodified prefatory summary is the requirement that gang predicates be committed for a common benefit that is more than merely reputational. (Stats. 2021, ch. 699, preface.) The uncodified legislative findings attached to the bill, moreover, make clear the Legislature's concern that the gang statute had been applied disproportionately against people of color simply based on the communities in which they live. (Stats. 2021, ch. 699, § 2, subd. (d).) They note that social networks "are often mischaracterized as gangs," and that "[p]eople are frequently automatically lumped into a gang social network simply because of their family members or their neighborhood." (*Ibid*.)

Legislative committee reports relating to AB 333 reflect the same focus on preventing "guilt by association." (Sen. Com. on Pub. Saf., Analysis of AB 333 (2021-2022 Reg. Sess.) July 6, 2021, p. 4.) The Senate Committee on Public Safety observed, for example, that "[i]n recent years, courts of appeal have reversed gang enhancements for insufficient evidence where a gang member was acting alone, the defendant's fellow gang members were unaware of the crime, and where no gang signs were displayed and no gang attire was worn during the crime." (*Id.* at p. 7, citing *People v. Soriano* (2021) 65 Cal.App.5th 278, 286.) Other reports similarly criticized the gang statute for "criminalizing culture and relationships among people in lowincome Black and Latino communities." (Assem. Floor Analysis of AB 333 (2021-2022 Reg. Sess.) as amended March 30, 2021, p. 2; Assem. Floor Analysis of AB 333 (2021-2022 Reg. Sess.) as amended May 28, 2021, p. 2.) One report noted that while the then-existing version of the gang statute required the current offense to be committed for the benefit of the gang, it contained no similar provision for predicate offenses. (Assem. Com. on Pub. Saf., Analysis of AB 333 (2021-2022 Reg. Sess.) April 6, 2021, pp. 5-6.) And another stated that AB 333 would "limit[] the possibility of a charged person being convicted based on mere rumor, speculation, and conjecture." (Assem. Floor Analysis of AB 333 (2021-2022 Reg. Sess.) as amended March 30, 2021, p. 2.)

When the Legislature passed AB 333, it did not alter section 186.21, which outlines the continuing dangers presented by gang violence in California. Nor did it choose to repeal the gang statute altogether. Instead, it made the standards for applying a gang enhancement more "rigorous." (Sen. Com. on Pub. Saf., Analysis of AB 333 (2021-2022 Reg. Sess.) July 6, 2021, p. 6; see also Concurrence in Sen. Amends. to Assem. Bill No. 333, Off. of Assem. Floor Analysis (2021-2022 Reg. Sess) as amended July 13, 2021, p. 2.) [noting the "vague definitions and weak standards of proof" that characterize gang enhancements].) As the legislative findings and committee reports show, the intent behind AB 333 was to narrow and refine the statute to more specifically target activity undertaken for the common benefit of a criminal street gang and to ensure that criminal activity undertaken for individual purposes would not be swept within the gang statute by mere association. That focus supports the interpretation that removal of the term "individually or" from section 186.22, subdivision (f), eliminates any ambiguity and reinforces the requirement that gang predicates be committed for the common benefit of a gang, viewing the gang as a collective endeavor.

Conversely, a requirement that each predicate offense must be committed in concert with another gang member would do little to advance the Legislature's goal of targeting patterns of organized gang activity and avoiding guilt by association. For example, under Clark's interpretation of subdivision (f), evidence that two gang members were convicted of murdering a witness set to testify in a fellow gang member's trial would qualify as a predicate offense. By contrast, evidence that a single gang member committed that murder would not qualify as a predicate offense. Yet, nothing in the legislative history suggests that the Legislature would consider the assassination to be any less of a gang crime if one gang member acting alone murdered the witness to prevent his or her testimony. (See § 186.22, subd. (g) [noting examples of common benefit to gang include silencing a witness].) Rather, in either event, the offense satisfies the Legislature's goal of ensuring that the gang statute is focused on collective gang activity, rather than individual activity.

Similarly, a gang member's conviction for possessing a firearm may support a pattern of criminal activity if it is a "gang gun" and not held for personal protection. This remains the case

whether or not another gang member was present during the arrest for illegal gun possession. If a gang's primary activities include selling drugs, any gang member's convictions for selling drugs in the gang's territory may evidence a pattern of criminal activity. Gang member A selling drugs alone on a street corner works for the collective benefit of his gang as much as gang members B and C who sell drugs together on the next block.

On the other hand, two gang members acting together to take a car joyriding for their own personal reasons would not satisfy the requirements for a gang predicate offense, since the crime would not have been committed for the common benefit of the gang. (See *Albillar*, *supra*, 51 Cal.4th at p. 62 ["it is conceivable that several gang members could commit a crime together, yet be on a frolic and detour unrelated to the gang"].) All of these examples advance the Legislature's purpose to focus the gang statute on activity undertaken for a gang purpose and to prevent "guilt by association." The key consideration, consistent with the Legislature's intent in enacting AB 333, is not the number of offenders but the collective purpose or effect of the offense.

Other choices made by the Legislature in enacting AB 333 reinforce that view. In revising subdivision (e), the Legislature removed from the list of qualifying predicate offenses a number of crimes that it viewed as peripheral to the core, violent gang activity it sought to combat. (See 2021 Stats., ch. 699, preface ["The bill would remove looting, felony vandalism, and specified personal identity fraud violations from the crimes that define a

pattern of criminal gang activity"]; Assem. Com. on Pub. Saf., Analysis of AB 333 (2021-2022 Reg. Sess.) as amended March 30, 2021, pp. 5-7, 10-12 [describing goal of focusing statute on violent gang activity].) In doing so, however, the Legislature left in place several firearm possession crimes that are typically, if not exclusively, committed by individuals. (See § 186.22, subds. (e)(1)(U) [possession of firearm capable of being concealed], (e)(1)(X) [prohibited possession of a firearm], (e)(1)(Y) [carrying a concealed firearm], (e)(1)(Z) [carrying a loaded firearm].) This is an additional strong indication that the Legislature did not contemplate excluding as a predicate offense under section 186.22, subdivision (e), a crime committed by a lone actor for the collective benefit of a gang.

Finally, it is true that one committee report on AB 333 noted that the bill, among other things, would require that gang predicates "were committed by two or more members." (Sen. Floor Analysis of AB 333 (2021-2022 Reg. Sess.) as amended July 13, 2021, p. 4.) In context, the statement is ambiguous. The same paragraph lists other textual changes that are in fact reflected in subdivision (e) itself. It states that the bill revised the definition of a "pattern of criminal gang activity" to additionally require "that the last of those offenses have occurred within three years of the prior offense and within three years of the current offense, the offenses were committed by two or more members, the offenses commonly benefited a criminal street gang, and the common benefit from the offenses is more than reputational." (*Ibid.*) No corresponding textual change was made to the "on separate occasions or by two or more members" language, nor does the analysis suggest that its interpretation derives from the amendment to subdivision (f). No other analysis of AB 333 contains any similar indication, even though the relevant language in the bill did not change at any point. Nor does the prefatory summary of the bill as finally enacted contain that description. (Stats. 2021, ch. 699, preface.)

In light of the textual analysis above and the remaining indicia of legislative intent, this lone reference is far from probative. Where the text of a statute "contains a phrase that is unambiguous—that has a clearly accepted meaning in both legislative and judicial practice—we do not permit it to be expanded or contracted by the statements of individual legislators or committees during the course of the enactment process." (West Virginia University Hospitals, Inc. v. Casey (1991) 499 U.S. 83, 98-99.) The statutory language, in particular, is of primary import because committee reports are not crafted with the same "care and scrutiny." (Wasatch Property Management v. Degrate (2005) 35 Cal.4th 1111, 1117-1118 ["We examine the language first, as it is the language of the statute itself that has successfully braved the legislative gauntlet. It is that statutory language which has been lobbied for, lobbied against, studied, proposed, drafted, restudied, redrafted, voted on in committee, amended, re-amended, analyzed, reanalyzed, voted on by two houses of the Legislature, sent to a conference committee, and, after perhaps more lobbying, debate and analysis, finally signed 'into law' by the Governor. The same care

and scrutiny does not befall the committee reports, caucus analyses, authors' statements, legislative counsel digests and other documents which make up a statute's 'legislative history,''' citations, quotation marks, and alterations omitted].)

Instead, notwithstanding that indication in one committee report, the amendments to subdivisions (e) and (f) are textually consonant and entirely consistent with the Legislature's intent to narrow and refine the gang statute to punish conduct committed for the common benefit of a gang, even when undertaken by a lone actor, rather than conduct committed for individual benefit.

D. The arguments advanced by Clark and in the *Delgado* decision are unpersuasive

Rather than reading the relevant provision in context and taking into account the structure and purpose of the statute, Clark's argument hinges on the definition of the single word "collectively" in subdivision (f). Clark defines "collectively" to mean "as a whole group rather than as individual persons or things." (OBM 14, citing https://www.dictionary.com/browse/ collectively>.) He narrowly interprets this definition, arguing that establishing a pattern of criminal activity must now require evidence that each predicate offense was committed by gang members in concert because "[m]embers cannot collectively commit a crime if only a single person is implicated in the crime." (OBM 14.)

This definition fails to consider the grammatical structure of subdivision (f), as well as its context in the statute as a whole, which shows that the word collectively must be interpreted to modify how gang members engage in an overall pattern of

criminal activity—that is, they must do so for the purposes of benefitting the gang's collective activity. Clark's interpretation, which ignores the "pattern" language, leads to an incorrect assumption that the word "collectively" must modify and restrict the language of subdivision (e), which otherwise clearly sets out the two types of gang predicates that may be shown. The assumption is incorrect for the reasons stated above.

Clark also asserts that this Court's decision in *Gardeley* supports his reading because it "combines the elements in subdivision (e) with those in subdivision (f) to reach an overall definition of 'criminal street gang." (OBM 15-16, citing *Gardeley*, *supra*, 14 Cal.4th at p. 623.) He misreads *Gardeley*. The central question in *Gardeley* was whether the prosecution was required to establish that the predicate offenses were "gang related." (*Gardeley*, at p. 621.) This Court held that there was no such requirement (*id* at pp. 621-624)—a requirement that has since been added by AB 333. *Gardeley* did not analyze the language of subdivision (f) or the definition of "criminal street gang" in the manner Clark asserts. (See *Gardeley*, at pp. 620-621.)

The *Delgado* opinion is unpersuasive for the same reasons. *Delgado* purported to "read the term 'collectively' in a commonsense manner to mean what it says—committed by more than one person...." (*Delgado*, *supra*, 74 Cal.App.5th at p. 1088.) But the Court of Appeal there made no attempt to harmonize the statute as a whole. It instead advanced a disfavored interpretation that renders part of the language in subdivision (e)(1) inoperative. (See *In re C.H.*, *supra*, 53 Cal.4th

at p. 103 [courts should "strive to give meaning to every word in a statute and to avoid constructions that render words, phrases, or clauses superfluous"].) And it did so on the basis of perceived legislative intent, while seemingly failing to consider that subdivisions (f) and (e) could naturally be read together in a way that does not conflict and would not require negating part of the statutory language.

The *Delgado* court's reliance on legislative intent, moreover, was itself misguided. The court justified its interpretation on the basis that it advanced the Legislature's intent to "dramatically limit" the scope of the gang enhancement statute. (Delgado, supra, 74 Cal.App.5th at p. 1089.) But the court failed to account for the numerous other changes implemented by AB 333. Among other things, the bill tightened the recency requirement for predicate offenses (§ 186.22, subd. (e)(1)), prohibited the use of the currently charged offense to prove a pattern of gang activity (§ 186.22, subd. (e)(2)), specified that predicate crimes must be committed by gang members rather than individuals and for a gang purpose (§ 186.22, subd. (e)(1)), narrowed the list of qualifying predicate offenses (compare § 186.22, subd. (e)(1), with former § 186.22, subd. (e)), and required that a gang enhancement allegation be tried separately from the underlying offense under certain circumstances (§ 1109). Taken together, these changes accomplish the substantial revision that the Legislature envisioned. While the Legislature intended to (and did) narrow the scope of the gang enhancement in some ways, it does not follow that the statute should be interpreted as narrowly

as possible in every respect—especially where, as here, that narrow reading would result in nullification of otherwise clear statutory text. (See *In re Friend* (2021) 11 Cal.5th 720, 736 ["no legislation pursues its purposes at all costs," and "it frustrates rather than effectuates legislative intent simplistically to assume that *whatever* furthers the statute's primary objective must be the law"]; *People v. Morales* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 399, 408 [one purpose of Proposition 47 was to save money, "and the measure has done so by causing the release of some prisoners and reducing the number of future felony sentences. But the purpose of saving money does not mean we should interpret the statute in every way that might maximize any monetary savings"].)

II. REVERSAL IS NOT REQUIRED EVEN UNDER THE COURT OF APPEAL'S INTERPRETATION OF THE STATUTE

The only challenge Clark makes to his gang enhancement based on AB 333 is that subdivision (e) now requires each predicate offense to have been committed by two or more gang members. Because that theory is incorrect, the judgment should be affirmed.

As noted above, however, the Court of Appeal discerned a different requirement that it thought had been imposed by the amendments to subdivisions (e) and (f): that both required predicate offenses may not be committed by the same lone actor. (See fn. 8, *ante*.) Even if the Court of Appeal's interpretation of the statute is correct, reversal is not required here.

"When a substantive change occurs in the elements of an offense and the jury is not instructed as to the proper elements, the omission implicates the defendant's right to a jury trial under the Sixth Amendment, and reversal is required unless 'it appears beyond a reasonable doubt' that the jury verdict would have been the same in the absence of the error." (*Tran, supra,* 13 Cal.5th at p. 1207; *Chapman v. California* (1967) 386 U.S. 18.)

The record shows beyond a reasonable doubt that three predicate offenses involving Clark and Ridgeway established a pattern of criminal activity even under the Court of Appeal's interpretation of subdivision (e).⁸ In April 2014, Clark pleaded guilty to an attempted residential burglary (§§ 459, 664). (5RT 1023.) Clark testified to being a founding member of his gang subset prior to 2014, and to the details of that burglary attempt he committed with four others. (7RT 1319, 1321, 1327.) Clark admitted planning a burglary that night, and admitted that he drove the group and directed others to act as lookouts. (7RT 1349, 1457-1462.) In July 2009, Ridgeway, also a member of SCM, pleaded guilty to residential burglary with a gang allegation (§§ 459, 186.22, subd. (b)), and active gang

⁸ The Court of Appeal determined that any error was harmless in reliance on evidence of the two predicate offenses from 2014 involving Clark and Ridgeway. In supplemental briefing, respondent mistakenly conceded that Ridgeway's 2009 residential burglary conviction no longer qualified as a predicate offense under amended section 186.22. It does qualify because there was another offense committed within three years of the charged offense. The Court of Appeal did not address the 2009 predicate offense in its harmless error analysis. The parties agree that the remaining three offenses involving coperpetrators M.M., Mosely and Parker do not qualify as gang predicates under amended section 186.22 because they involve the charged offenses. (§ 186.22, subd. (e)(2).)

participation (§ 186.22, subd. (a)). (5RT 994, 1013-1016.) Ridgeway subsequently also pleaded guilty to a robbery (§ 211) committed on October 13, 2014. (5RT 994, 1013, 1015-1016.) These convictions involved two different SCM gang members who committed qualifying offenses within the requisite period. (§ 186.22, subd. (e)(1)(B), (K).) There is therefore no doubt that these convictions demonstrate collective engagement in a pattern of criminal gang activity even under the Court of Appeal's view.

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